
Elizabeth College – creation and rebuilding 
Research from the archives 

 
   A Grammar School was founded on Guernsey in 1563 by the Royal Commissioners 
of Queen Elizabeth I. In that year 1 vergee and 2 perches of land with property was 
assigned to the “Elizabeth School” by the Commissioners. Later, in 1568, a further 10 
vergees of land was assigned to the School by the Governor of Guernsey with the 

consent of the Royal Commissioners. The object 
was to found, in the name of the Queen, a 
grammar school called 
‘The School of Queen 
Elizabeth’. The School 
was also assigned with 
corn rents to provide a 
supporting income. 
Eighty quarters of wheat 
were assigned to the 
Master and the School 
which were to be levied 
and held by the School 
Master in perpetuity – 
all of which were 
endowed by letters 
patent. It was stipulated 
at the time that the 
Master need not 
necessarily be a 
clergyman but should 

“be versed in Latin and in Greek, if it happen, and endued of good morals and with a 
grave aspect”. Further to this the main purpose of the school was to be the “teaching 
of grammar” and it was at the Master’s discretion whether other instruction (subjects) 
was to be undertaken. The school was to be divided into 6 classes. It was also made 
clear that if the Master was to persevere in doing wrong he was to be removed from 
his position by the Governor of Guernsey. 
 

List of Masters of Elizabeth Grammar School (1600s) 
Under the old plan 

 
Mr Martin de Pestre, left Feb. 1606 

Mr Amos Horn, sworn in 1608 
Mr John Ganrey, sworn in 10th May 1613 
Mr Thos. Manger, (was) 30th Sept. 1622 
Mr Joshua Slowley, sworn 4th Apr. 1627 

Mr Arthur Morehead, (was) 16th July 1633 
Me Jacob L’Epine, sworn 29th May 1639 
Mr Thos. Carey, elected 26th Dec. 1644 

Mr Geo. Delgarno, (was) 12th March 1661 
Mr Gabl. du Perrier, (was) 10th July 1667 

Mr Wm. Johnson, (was) 5th July 1682 
College vacant at his death, 1st Feb. 1698 



List of Masters of Elizabeth Grammar School (1700s) 
Under the old plan 

 
Rev. L. Payne, (was) 17th June 1708 

Mr Row, (was) 17th January 1714 
College vacant at his death 7th Apr. 1716 
Rev. J. Le Mesurier, (was) 5th April 1738 

College vacant at his death, 22nd May 1759 
Rev. J Hemming, appointed 28th Dec. 1759 

Rev. C. Crispin, B.A. 26th June 1761 
Rev. N. Carey, B.A. 1st July 1795 

Resigned on a Pension of £60, 1st Oct. 1824 

 
   It appears that the Master was within his right to hire other school rooms and 
dwellings in which to conduct his classes, which by all accounts did happen in 1816 
when the Master took premises in Saumarez Street. But following the review of the 
School he was directed to move his dwellings and classes back to the School in 
January 1824. 



   An Education review Committee in 1823 investigated the history of the School up 
until that time and found that there had been many “instances of complaint against the 
Masters of the School for neglect of duty and for incompetency; some admonitions 
and some removals, but no expulsions of scholars” (students). They also found “that 
the number of scholars at the School of Elizabeth had probably never exceeded 29, 
had often been reduced to one or two and at times there had been none at all!”. It was 
surmised that during the 260 years since its creation the Masters had not exacted any 
fees from the students, but for as long as anyone could remember 1 guinea was 
‘given’ to the Masters as a New Year’s gift every year, with 1 shilling for the Servant 
and 2 shillings and sixpence annually for coal.  
   The Review Committee in 1823 found the School in much reduced circumstances. 
The original letters patent from the Royal Commissioners had assigned a school-
room, a temple or church, a cemetery to the North and neighbouring land and edifices 
to the South to include orchards and small gardens. Unfortunately, during his term of 
office, one of the Governors of Guernsey, Sir Thomas Leighton, (1570 – 1580) had 
sold off some of the land assigned to the School. The Committee also located some of 
the seating from the School in the Town Church! All told Sir Thomas would seem to 
have sold off 3 vergees of the best school land. Unfortunately he had no legal right to 
do this because by doing so he was annulling a Royal Grant!  
   The 1823 Review of the School of Elizabeth was proposed by the Lieutenant 
Governor of Guernsey, his Excellency Sir John Colborne KCB. After the 
investigation was completed the States of Guernsey took steps to re-structure the 
School and repair the deprivations that had occurred to it in the proceeding 260 years. 
To this end a new staff was elected in October 1824 – comprising; 

 
Principal          – Mr Stokes 

Vice Principal – Reverend W. L. Davies 
Professor of Mathematics – Reverend G. De Joux 
The Professors of French and Writing were still 

undecided at this time. 
 

As part of the reformation process it was decided that 
the school should take on boarders from England and 
that the charge of 12 livre would be made on a per 
annum basis for a complete classical education 
including English, French, writing and arithmetic. 
The Committee did rule, however, that those 
individuals or families that during the period 1570 – 
1580 had purchased school land from the then 
Governor Sir Thomas Leighton should not be forced 
to return the land as they had bought it in good faith, 
rather it was an error on the part of the Governor. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 



In 1825 the school had the following student attendance figures; 
 

Forms Entered Moved 
from 

lower 
forms 

Total Gone Moved to 
higher 
forms

Remain Total 

        
I 42 0 42 4 12 26 42 
II 22 12 34 3 7 24 34 
III 19 7 26 2 7 17 26 
IV 19 7 26 0 8 18 26 
V 4 8 12 0 4 8 12 
VI 0 4 4 0 0 4 4 

 
 
  A States meeting in early 1826 debated the School’s future and passed the following 
proposals; 
 

1. That 8,000 livre be granted for the building of a new College and a Master’s 
house. 

2. That 600 livre be granted for the levelling of the land and building of walls 
around the said land. 

3. That 700 livre be granted for the annual running expenses of the new College 
(as calculated in 1826).   

 
After this was agreed and put in motion a ceremony was held on Thursday 19th 
October 1826 to lay the first stone of the new College. 



  



 
 



 



  



  



This new School is the building that still stands to this day. 

                                              
 

In 1827 the New School’s staff role was as follows; 



 
   The College also had a series of “exhibitions” ( grants ) associated with it which 
were awarded to promising or outstanding students. 



During the year 1827 the tuition fees were listed as shown; 

 

 


